### S208173



# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

#### BEACON RESIDENTIAL COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

υ.

#### SKIDMORE, OWINGS & MERRILL LLP et al..

Defendants and Respondents.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION FIVE CASE No. A134542

### OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

HORVITZ & LEVY LLP

PEDER K. BATALDEN (BAR No. 205054)

\*PETER ABRAHAMS (BAR No. 44757)

ANDREA AMBROSE LOBATO (BAR No. 254996)

15760 VENTURA BOULEVARD, 18TH FLOOR

ENCINO, CALIFORNIA 91436-3000

(818) 995-0800 • FAX: (818) 995-3157 pbatalden@horvitzlevy.com pabrahams@horvitzlevy.com alobato@horvitzlevy.com SUPREME COURT

MAY 3 0 2013

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Did the Right to Repair Act, Senate Bill No. 800 (2001-2002 Reg. Sess.), Civil Code section 895 et seq., which abrogated the holding in Aas v. Superior Court (2000) 24 Cal.4th 627 (Aas), that homeowners may not recover damages in negligence from the builder of their homes for existing construction defects that had not yet caused property damage or personal injury, also abrogate other common law rules governing the liability of design professionals prior to the adoption of that Act?
- 2. Does a design professional (e.g., an architect or engineer) that provides design recommendations to the developer of a construction project, but has no involvement in the construction, owe a duty of care to persons with whom the design professional is not in contractual privity? In Weseloh Family Ltd. Partnership v.

K.L. Wessel Construction Co., Inc. (2004) 125 Cal.App.4th 152 (Weseloh), the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, held a design professional owes no duty in those circumstances. Here, in a published opinion, the Court of Appeal refused to apply Weseloh and held that a design professional does owe a duty of care.

#### INTRODUCTION

Developers of condominiums and other residential housing units typically contract with architects and other design professionals to prepare building plans. A general contractor and numerous subcontractors implement the plans. The plans may be modified during the building process, as unforeseen conditions and unexpected challenges arise. During this process, the design professional may have little to no input on those modifications since his contractual obligation was to draw the plans for the developer.

After the completion of construction, homeowners sometimes allege defects in their units. It has become commonplace for associations of homeowners to file construction defect actions against the developer and the contractors when this occurs. This appeal presents a less-common twist on the usual construction defect litigation scenario: the homeowners have sued the design professionals who drew the plans (along with the developer and numerous contractors).

Here, the Court of Appeal relied on the Right to Repair Act, Senate Bill No. 800 (2001-2002 Reg. Sess.), Civil Code section 895 et seq. which establishes construction standards for residential housing. Giving the Repair Act a sweeping interpretation, the Court of Appeal concluded it imposed a duty of care on design professionals in every such case. According to the Court of Appeal, even design professionals not in contractual privity with condominium owners owe a duty of care to the owners in preparing the plans.

The Court of Appeal misread the Repair Act's provisions and misunderstood the Legislature's intentions. The Repair Act is silent as to whether a design professional owes a duty of care. The Repair Act leaves that matter to the common law, the traditional source from which courts discern whether a duty of care is owed. This Court should therefore reverse the Court of Appeal's holding that design professionals owe a duty of care under the Repair Act.

The Court of Appeal suggested—though it did not hold—that design professionals would owe a comparable duty under the balance of common law factors developed by this court in Biakanja v. Irving (1958) 49 Cal.2d 647 (Biakanja) and Bily v. Arthur Young & Co. (1992) 3 Cal.4th 370 (Bily). The Court of

<sup>&</sup>quot;We have employed a checklist of factors to consider in assessing legal duty in the absence of privity of contract between a plaintiff and a defendant . . . The determination whether in a specific case the defendant will be held liable to a third person not in privity is a matter of policy and involves the balancing of various factors, among which are (1) the extent to which the transaction was intended to affect the plaintiff, (2) the foreseeability of harm to him, (3) the degree of certainty that the plaintiff suffered injury, (4) the closeness of the connection between the defendant's conduct and the injury suffered, (5) the moral blame attached to the defendant's (continued...)

Appeal was wrong about this as well, and its decision should not be affirmed on this alternative ground.

The Biakanja/Bily factors tilt against imposing a common law duty on the facts of this case. Two architectural firms were hired by the developer of a high-rise apartment building to provide engineering and design services. After the building was completed, the units were rented as apartments for about two years. At that point, plans changed and the units were marketed and sold as The condominium association later brought a condominiums. construction defect action against the architects and 40 other defendants, including the developer. The architects had no control over the construction. They were not in contractual privity with the condominium association. Indeed, their contracts with the developer stated that no condominium association or homeowner could be a third party beneficiary of the architects' obligation to the developer. Moreover, the developer received complaints about the alleged defects from renters, yet later sold the units to the condominium association members without disclosing them. Accordingly, any moral blame properly falls on the developer another party to this lawsuit—rather than the architects.

On materially similar facts, the Court of Appeal in Weseloh, supra, 125 Cal.App.4th at pages 158 and 173 held that a design engineer owed no duty of care to third parties. Any other holding in

<sup>(...</sup>continued)

conduct, and [6] the policy of preventing future harm.' " (*Bily*, supra, 3 Cal.4th at pp. 397-398, citing *Biakanja*, supra, 49 Cal.2d at pp. 650-651.)

this case would improperly enlarge the duty owed by design professionals, and would muddle the prior duty limitations established by this court's precedents in *Bily* and *Biakanja*.

At bottom, no statutory or common law duty exists here, so this court should reverse the Court of Appeal's decision.

#### FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. HKS and Skidmore, two architectural firms, are hired by a developer of an apartment complex, the Beacon, to provide design and engineering services.

Petitioners Skidmore, Owings & Merrill LLP (SOM) and HKS, Inc. (collectively HKS/SOM) are architectural firms. They contracted with a sophisticated developer of a large mixed commercial and residential complex in San Francisco (the Beacon) to provide architectural and engineering services. (2 JA 311.) Their contracts with the developer provided that they were "solely responsible to Owner and not to . . . condominium associations or purchasers for performance or Architect's obligations under this Agreement; and . . . no such condominium association or purchaser shall be a third-party beneficiary or third-party obligee with respect to Architect's obligations under this Agreement." (1 JA 47.)<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Plaintiff Beacon Residential Community Association (the Association) initially named both HKS and SOM in a cause of action for "third party beneficiary-breach of contracts and subcontracts," but set forth only the contract language relating to HKS. (1 JA 45-(continued...)

The developer planned to rent the building's residential units as apartments. (2 JA 279-280, 283, 308, 321-322.) HKS/SOM prepared the original design for the Beacon, but did not control or oversee its construction. (See 2 JA 313-314; 3 RT 106, 110, 112-114.) They conducted site observations and attended weekly meetings. (2 JA 313-314.) They also made recommendations to the developer regarding non-conforming work that had already been performed and should be rejected. (*Ibid.*) However, HKS/SOM had to obtain approval from the developer before they could communicate with the contractor about nonconforming work. (2 JA 314.)

## B. The Beacon is sold to another developer, and the units are transformed into condominiums.

After completion of construction, the 595 residential units in the Beacon were rented as apartments for approximately two years. (2 JA 321.) The developer received written and unwritten complaints from renters that the apartments "became hot and stuffy

<sup>(...</sup>continued)

<sup>57,</sup> capitalization and boldface omitted.) After HKS demurred, noting the contract language providing that Association was not a third party beneficiary (1 JA 109-110), the Association dismissed HKS from that cause of action (1 JA 145-147) and, in subsequent iterations of its complaint, chose not to reassert that cause of action against SOM (1 JA 229-239; 2 JA 318-320). Consequently, the Association has implicitly conceded that the contract between SOM and the developer included similar language. The Association did not plead contract claims against HKS/SOM.

on a constant basis, making them essentially uninhabitable and causing a health hazard." (2 JA 321-322.)

The Beacon was subsequently sold to another developer,<sup>3</sup> who marketed and sold the apartments as condominiums. (2 JA 287.)

## C. Condominium owners sue HKS/SOM, as well as forty other defendants, alleging defects in the building.

The Association, the homeowners association that manages the Beacon, filed this lawsuit against HKS/SOM and 40 other defendants. The operative third amended complaint asserted three causes of action against HKS/SOM for "Civil Code Title 7—Violation of Statutory Building Standards for Original Construction," "Negligence Per Se in Violation of Statute," and "Negligence of Design Professionals and Contractors." (2 JA 288-307, 311-315, boldface omitted.)

The Association alleged multiple defects in the project, including "excessive heat gain," a condition supposedly rendering the condominium units periodically uninhabitable due to high temperatures. (2 JA 314-315, 321.) According to the Association, this condition was due to in part HKS/SOM's approval of the substitution of less expensive and ultimately nonfunctional windows, as well as a design lacking adequate ventilation within

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Although the third amended complaint tends to obscure the relationship between developers, it suggests that the two developers were related entities. (See, e.g., 2 JA 287-288.) We therefore treat the two developers as one.

the residential units. (*Ibid.*) The complaint further alleges that instead of fixing the problem, the developer made it worse by installing a film on the windows, which caused additional damage to the building. (2 JA 321.) The Association's operative third amended complaint seeks damages in excess of \$50 million. (2 JA 323.)

## D. The trial court sustains HKS/SOM's demurrers, which argued they owed no duty to the condominium owners.

HKS/SOM separately demurred to the Association's third amended complaint. (2 JA 361-397.) Relying on the duty of care analysis in *Biakanja*, *Bily*, and *Weseloh*, they argued they owed no duty to third parties, including the Association and its members.

The trial court ruled that Weseloh controlled and that HKS/SOM could not be liable for negligent design. The trial court also ruled that, to state a viable claim, the Association must show that HKS/SOM controlled the construction process by assuming a role extending beyond providing design recommendations to the developer. (3 RT 106, 110, 112-114.) During oral argument on the demurrer, counsel for the Association conceded that HKS/SOM had no control over the construction means and methods, but asserted that their construction observation gave them a degree of overall "control" of the project. (3 RT 112.) The court asked counsel if she had a good faith belief that HKS/SOM "went beyond what architects do, which is recommend changes, and actually controlled whether or not the change was implemented." (3 RT 119.) When counsel

stated she did have such a belief, the court granted leave to amend. (3 RT 118-119.) But the Association ultimately elected *not* to amend, and the court thereafter sustained the demurrers without leave to amend. (2 JA 487-490.)

The trial court's written ruling explained that "[t]he allegations do not show that either of the architects went beyond the typical role of an architect, which is to make recommendations to the owner. Even if the architect initiated the substitutions, changes, or other elements of design that Plaintiff alleges to be the causes of serious defects, so long as the final decision rested with the owner, there was no duty owed by the architect to the future condominium owners, in the Court's view. The owner made the final decisions, according to the Third Amended Complaint. Therefore, in the Court's view, the holding in *Weseloh*, finding no duty of care of the engineer in that case, dictates the result here based on the facts alleged in the Third Amended Complaint." (2 JA 483.)

## E. The Court of Appeal holds that HKS/SOM owed a duty and reverses the trial court's rulings.

The Court of Appeal reversed in a published opinion.4

The Court of Appeal reversed the judgment in its entirety, even though it acknowledged that the trial court properly sustained the demurrer to the cause of action for negligence per se. (Typed opn., 4, fn. 5.) It denied petitioners' petition for rehearing, which pointed out that inconsistency in its opinion.

The court began by analyzing the *Biakanja/Bily* factors to determine whether the architects owed a common law duty to the Association. The court concluded that *Weseloh* provided "limited guidance" and was of "little application to the facts before us." (Typed opn., 7.) The court found nothing in the *Biakanja/Bily* duty analysis that would preclude imposition of liability in this case (typed opn., 13), yet the court stopped short of ruling on the existence of a common law duty.

"[U]ltimately, it is not our assessment of the Biakanja/Bily policy analysis that matters." (Typed opn., 17.) Rather, the Court of Appeal held that, under the Repair Act, design professionals owe a statutory duty of care to third parties. Relying on provisions in the Repair Act subjecting "design professionals" to liability for violation of its construction standards, the Court of Appeal concluded: "To the extent that a Biakanja/Bily policy analysis is not otherwise dispositive of the scope of duty owed by a design professionals [sic] to a homeowner/buyer, Senate Bill No. 800 is." (Typed opn., 21.)

#### LEGAL ARGUMENT

- I. THE RIGHT TO REPAIR ACT DOES NOT IMPOSE ON DESIGN PROFESSIONALS A DUTY OF CARE TOWARD THIRD PARTIES.
- A. The Repair Act does not even apply to this case.

The Repair Act "applies to original construction intended to be sold as an individual dwelling unit. As to condominium conversions, this title does not apply to or does not supersede any other statutory or common law." (Civ. Code, § 896.)

It is undisputed that the units in the Beacon were originally built for rental as apartments (2 JA 279-280, 283, 308, 321-322), not "sold as [] individual dwelling unit[s]" (Civ. Code, § 896). The units were later converted to condominiums, but the developer did not originally intend to construct units for sale. It follows that the Repair Act does not apply to this action. This purely legal issue is embraced by the grant of review and should be considered.

B. The Court of Appeal nonetheless rested its decision on the Repair Act—whose provisions it misunderstood.

The Court of Appeal held that HKS/SOM owed a duty of care to the Association under the Repair Act. (Typed opn., 17.) The court concluded that Senate Bill No. 800 is "dispositive of the scope

of duty owed by a design professional[] to a homeowner/buyer." (*Id.* at p. 21.)

The Court of Appeal was mistaken. As we explain below, nothing in the plain language of the Repair Act can be read to automatically impose such a duty of care on design professionals. Nor does the legislative history suggest that was the Legislature's intention. Any doubts on this point should be resolved in favor of HKS/SOM, because the Repair Act does not clearly disclose a legislative intention to abrogate the traditional common law function of assessing when duties of care are owed.

## C. The plain language of the Repair Act says nothing about imposing a duty of care on design professionals.

Two provisions of the Repair Act—Civil Code sections 896 and 936—were the centerpiece of the Court of Appeal's analysis. The court believed these provisions established that design professionals always owe homeowners a duty of care. In fact, these provisions show precisely the opposite. We begin by analyzing them.

The first sentence of Civil Code section 936 states that the Repair Act generally applies to design professionals (and others) who act negligently: "Each and every provision of the other chapters of this title apply to . . . design professionals to the extent that the . . . design professionals caused, in whole or in part, a violation of a particular standard as the result of a negligent act . . . ." (Emphasis added.) The requirement of proof of a "negligent act" refutes the Court of Appeal's conclusion that a court

may dispense with the *Biakanja/Bily* duty analysis when a design professional is charged with violating the Repair Act's construction standards. That is because "[t]he threshold element of a cause of action for [professional] negligence is the existence of a duty to use due care toward an interest of another that enjoys legal protection against unintentional invasion." (*Bily, supra, 3 Cal.4th at p. 397.*) A plaintiff could not prove a "negligent act" without establishing the existence of a legal duty as a threshold matter.

Moreover, the second sentence of Civil Code section 936 explains that design professionals retain their common-law defenses, as well as statutory affirmative defenses: "In addition to the affirmative defenses set forth in [Civil Code] Section 945.5, a . . . design professional . . . may also offer common law and contractual defenses as applicable to any claimed violation of a standard."

An argument that a defendant owes no duty of care to a plaintiff is one such "common law . . . defense[]" (Civ. Code, § 936). "[A] 'defense' is '. . . a reason in law or fact why the plaintiff should not recover or establish what he seeks' "—it is a "'response to the claims of the other party, setting forth reasons why the claims should not be granted.' "(Exxess Electronixx v. Heger Realty Corp. (1998) 64 Cal.App.4th 698, 712, fn. 15, citing Black's Law Dict. (6th ed. 1990) p. 419, cd. 2.) A defendant's argument that he does not owe a duty is plainly a "defense[]" (Civil Code, § 936). (Ventura County Humane Society v. Holloway (1974) 40 Cal.App.3d 897, 902 [noting that, in a professional negligence case, a plaintiff must establish each element of the tort: "absence of, or failure to prove, any of them is fatal to recovery"].) By preserving a design

professional's right to raise "common law . . . defenses," Civil Code section 936 enshrines the proposition that a design professional may contest that he owes a homeowner a duty of care. The Court of Appeal therefore erred in interpreting the Repair Act to impose a duty on design professionals in every case.

The other provision of the Repair Act, Civil Code section 896, adds nothing to this analysis. Civil Code section 896 mandates performance standards for new residential constructions and defines the rights and obligations of builders and consumers concerning new housing units. (See typed opn., 18.) "In any action seeking recovery of damages arising out of, or related to deficiencies in, the residential construction, design, specifications, surveying, planning, supervision, testing, or observation of construction, a . . . design professional, shall, except as specifically set forth in this title, be liable for, and the claimant's claims or causes of action shall be limited to violation of, the following standards, except as specifically set forth in this title." (Civ. Code, § 896.) This statute serves the purpose of defining (in exhaustive detail) the types of defects for which design professionals and other defendants may be held liable. But it does not state that design professionals automatically owe a duty to homeowners. That is simply not the purpose of this section.

## D. The Legislature did not intend to impose an automatic duty of care on design professionals.

The Repair Act expressly states that "[n]othing in this title modifies the law pertaining to joint and several liability for . . . design professionals that contribute to any specific violation of this title." (Civ. Code, § 936.) Since neither the common law nor other statutes automatically impose on design professionals a duty of care toward homeowners in every case, Civil Code section 936 clearly evinces the Legislature's intent *not* to impose a duty of care through the Repair Act.

Nothing in the legislative history of the Repair Act supports a different conclusion. As to the liability of design professionals, the legislative history simply reiterates the text of Civil Code section 936, which preserves all applicable common law defenses (and therefore imposes no duty of care, as we have explained above).

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