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

ARGUMENT

A. This Court Must Uphold the Court of Appeal's Decision Herein if the Facts Alleged in Appellant's Complaint, Reasonably Construed, Amount to a Valid Cause of Action, or Could Reasonably Be Amended to State a Valid Cause of Action

On review of the judgment of the Court of Appeal reversing the superior court's order sustaining defendants' demurrers, this Court must examine Appellant's complaint de novo to determine whether it alleges facts sufficient to state a cause of action under any legal theory, such facts being assumed true for this purpose. (*McCall v. Pacificare* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 412, 415.)

This Court must give the complaint a reasonable interpretation, reading it as a whole and its parts in their context. (*Reynolds v. Bement* (2005) 36 Cal.4th 1075, 1083. It treats the demurrer as admitting all material facts properly pleaded. (*Aubry v. Tri-City Hospital District* (1992) 2 Cal.4th 962, 966-67 (citations omitted).) It is error for a trial court to sustain a demurrer when the plaintiff has stated a cause of action under any possible legal theory. (*Ibid.*) It is an abuse of discretion to sustain a demurrer without leave to amend if the plaintiff shows there is a reasonable possibility any defect identified by the defendant can be cured by amendment. (*Ibid.*)

Statutory interpretation, in this case, the interpretation of SB 800, is a question of law that the appellate court reviews de novo. (*Bruns v. E-Commerce Exchange, Inc.* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 717, 724.) Similarly, the existence of "duty" is a legal question to be reviewed de novo. (*Osornio v. Weingarten* (2004) 124 Cal.App.4th 304, 316.)

- B. The Court of Appeal Correctly Concluded That Under the Facts as Alleged in Appellant's Complaint, Respondents, Acting in the Normal Role of the Design Professional, Owed the Future Beacon Project Homeowners a Duty of Care to Perform Their Services in a Reasonably Prudent Manner So As to Avoid Causing Appreciable Harm to the Homeowners and Their Property as a Result of Respondents' Negligence
 - 1. Cases Dating Back to *MacPherson v. Buick Motor Co.* Hold that a Duty of Care Exists Toward Future Homeowners by Significant Participants in the Design and Construction of Homes

As the Court of Appeal correctly states (Court of Appeal Opinion, reproduced as Attachment C (hereafter, "Opinion"), pp. 7-8), the liability of design professionals to third party purchasers of residential construction is not unexplored territory, and does not present this Court with a novel issue. Almost one hundred years ago, in the seminal and still leading case of *MacPherson v. Buick Motor Co.* (1916) 217 N.Y. 382 [111 N.E. 1050], which involved a defective wheel of a car, Justice Cardozo gave extensive attention to a prior

decision, Burke v. Ireland (1898) 26 A.D. 487 [50 N.Y.S. 369], which involved defective construction. In Burke, the court held that a party is responsible in damages for his negligence in the design or construction of a building, whereby third persons are injured, even though he has no contractual relations with such persons. (Burke v. Ireland, supra, 26 A.D. at pp. 491-92.) The nineteenth century Burke opinion already recognized that the developer will normally rely on a licensed architect to know the details of designing and constructing a residential building. Thus, the primary "duty" to make such building a safe and habitable place rests with the architect. (*Id.*, at pp. 498-99.) The developer, contractors, and others involved in the construction process generally rely on the architect, whom the law requires to be a qualified, licensed professional (see *Binford v. Boyd* (1918) 178 Cal. 458, 467), to understand the fundamental requirements of habitable living space, and to incorporate them into the design.

MacPherson was the starting point for a long line of cases, including numerous decisions which have issued from this Court, holding that "privity" is not a requisite of liability based on negligence, where the defendant has created a product with knowledge that the product, while normally safe, can be harmful if

poorly designed or made. (*MacPherson v. Buick Motor Co., supra,* 217 N.Y. at pp. 389-90.) The defendant's "duty of care" arises from the nature of the transaction in which the party who contracts to buy the product created by the defendant is known to be a "dealer" who buys only for the purpose of reselling to the public. (*Id.*, at p. 390.)

Justice Cardozo's ground for rejecting the "privity" requirement in *MacPherson* remains equally applicable to the ultimate argument advanced by Respondents herein, namely, the contention that Respondents' duty ran only to the developer (see Opening Brief, pp. 34-37):

The dealer was indeed the one person of whom it might be said with some approach to certainty that by him the car would not be used. Yet the defendant would have us say that he was the one person whom it was under a legal duty to protect. The law does not lead us to so inconsequent a conclusion.

(*Id.*, at p. 390.) The *MacPherson* opinion explicitly draws support from *Burke*, which as noted dealt with the defective design and construction of a residence. It concludes:

There is nothing anomalous in a rule which imposes upon A, who has contracted with B, a duty to C and D and others according as he does or does not know that the subject matter of the contract is intended for their use.

(*Id.*, at p. 393.)

This Court long ago fully accepted and adopted the reasoning and rule of *MacPherson*, as it applies to negligence in the design and construction of a residence. This Court is here called upon by Respondents to rewrite the common law, and repudiate an entire line of cases, in order to accept the position advanced by Respondents that the architect owes no duty of care to persons who will be living in the homes that he designs.

MacPherson and its progeny were restated and relied upon by this Court in Hale v. Depaoli (1948) 33 Cal.2d 228. The defendant, Depaoli, was involved in the construction of a residence in 1925. In his capacity as a builder, Depaoli had no contractual relationship with subsequent occupants of the residence. The plaintiff was an 18 year old girl, the daughter of a tenant, who fell off the porch due to a defective railing that was not nailed properly, and suffered injuries. This Court cited MacPherson to hold that Depaoli, as the builder, owed a duty of care to the future residents to make sure that the home was built properly, and was liable for his negligence in performing that duty. (Id., at pp. 230-31.)

Interestingly, with respect to one of Respondents' efforts to distract attention with an argument about the "original intent" of the

Beacon Project (Opening Brief, pp. 4, 11),⁵ the Court in its analysis and holding drew absolutely no distinction between the duty of care that would be owed to a "home owner," as opposed to a "renter." Either way, the duty of care is owed to the people who will be living in the home.

However, Respondents' Opening Brief makes a patently false statement in asserting "[I]t is undisputed that the units in the Beacon were originally built for rental as apartments." Appellant's complaint clearly and unequivocally alleges the exact opposite. It specifically states that Respondents --

drew the plans and specifications, and/or engaged in periodic site observations and contract administration respecting the design, development, and construction of the Subject Property and the improvements thereon with the knowledge that the said property would be sold to and used by members of the public, including the members of the Plaintiff Association.

(JA 312; see also, JA 270 (Beacon Project was created with CC&R's in place prior to its construction); 277-78 (condominium owners' association was created before the Beacon Project was completed); 287 (intent of the developer was to sell condominiums to the public).)

⁵ This is another example of an issue Respondents argue in their brief, as to which this Court did not grant review.

Appellant's complaint further alleges that in designing and managing the construction of the Beacon Project, Respondents "caused the property and the improvements to be constructed through their own services." Additionally, Appellant's complaint alleges that Respondents were paid well over Five Million Dollars (\$5,000,000) for their services on the project, making it fair and equitable for these parties to have a duty of care to Plaintiff and its Members, and the Commercial Association. (JA 312.)

In *Stewart v. Cox* (1961) 55 Cal.2d 857, this Court extended the holdings of *MacPherson* and *Hale* to a situation where a subcontractor had negligently installed gunite for a swimming pool, allowing water to escape which damaged the plaintiffs' home. The Court rejected the argument that the lack of privity between the subcontractor and the home owner was a basis for denying liability. The Court, most cogently, stated:

[I]t was obvious that the pool for which [subcontractor] Cox provided the gunite work was intended for the plaintiffs and that property damage to them -- and possibly to some of their neighbors -- was foreseeable in the event the work was so negligently done as to permit water to escape. It is clear that the transaction between [contractor] Wahlstrom and [subcontractor] Cox was intended to specially affect plaintiffs. There is no doubt that plaintiffs suffered serious damage, and the court found, supported by ample evidence, that the injury was

caused by Cox's negligence. Under all the circumstances Cox should not be exempted from liability if negligence on his part was the proximate cause of the damage to plaintiffs.

(*Id.*, at p. 863.)

The *MacPherson / Depaoli / Stewart* line of cases was further extended in *Sabella v. Wisler* (1963) 59 Cal.2d 21. In *Sabella*, the "negligence" was the developer's failure to discover that the site of a home was uncompacted fill. Evidence showed that the developer failed to conduct soil tests, and failed to notice the problem from observations during excavation. The plaintiffs' home, which was part of a tract development, did not suffer appreciable damage until four years after it was completed, when sewer pipes became offset due to settlement, causing large volumes of water to escape, thus causing extensive further damage. (*Id.*, at pp. 24-27.)

Sabella is of interest here because it represents this Court's initial foray into the policy considerations giving rise to duties associated with the participants in mass-produced housing, the subject matter of the present case.

Applying the six factor test of *Biakanja v. Irving* (1958) 49 Cal.2d 647, the Court found that a "duty" existed. Significantly with respect to Respondents' main argument here, the Court recognized

that "future homeowners" are a sufficiently definite and limited class to warrant the imposition of a duty of care on the part of those who create a housing development.

It appears that while this house was not constructed with the intention of ownership passing to these particular plaintiffs, the Sabellas are members of the class of prospective home buyers for which Wisler admittedly built the dwelling. Thus as a matter of legal effect the home may be considered to have been intended for the plaintiffs, and Wisler owed them a duty of care in construction. (See Prosser, Torts (2d ed. 1955) § 36, pp. 166-168.)

(Sabella v. Wisler, supra, 59 Cal.2d at p. 28.)

There is no principled basis for a distinction between the duty owed by Respondents to the home owners in this case, and the duty owed to the home owners by the defendants in *Stewart v. Cox* and *Sabella v. Wisler*. Respondents offer no basis to distinguish *Stewart* and *Sabella*. The Court would be required to overrule these venerable cases to accept Respondents' position on a privity requirement here.

The vulnerability of home buyers, particularly, buyers of mass produced homes, was again stressed by this Court in *Connor v. Great Western Savings & Loan Assn.* (1969) 69 Cal.2d 850. The Court factored such vulnerability into the "moral blame" factor of the *Biakanja* analysis. The Court observed that "[A] home is not only a

major investment for the usual buyer but also the only shelter he has." Hence, it is doubly important to protect him against defects beyond his capacity to remedy. The usual buyer of a home is "ill equipped with experience or financial means" to discover serious defects. (*Id.*, at p. 867-68.)

Therefore, relying on *MacPherson* and its progeny, this Court in *Connor* found a duty of care toward future homeowners to exist in the project's financing bank – a party who, while substantially involved in the development that produced plaintiff's home, obviously was not the owner, the contractor, or the architect. (*Id.*, at p. 869.)

Most recently, the "duty outside privity" doctrine of *MacPherson* and its progeny was re-examined by this Court in *Aas v*. *Superior Court* (2000) 24 Cal.4th 627. This Court, in *Aas*, recapped the entire line of cases from *MacPherson* forward, discussed above. (*Id.*, at pp. 637-42.) The Court did not question in the least the established principle that a duty of care by all project participants, including the design professionals, runs in favor of the future homeowners. However, *Aas* concluded that this duty should be limited, under the doctrine of *Seely v. White Motor Car* (1966) 63 Cal.2d 9, to suits seeking the costs to repair defects in construction

that have caused "appreciable harm" to the homeowners. (*Id.*, at pp. 646, 652.) Violations of fire or earthquake codes, which have not caused any harm, do not give rise to damages recoverable in tort, this Court ruled. In terms of the *Biakanja* factors, the *Aas* holding was primarily addressed to "the degree of certainty that the plaintiff has suffered harm." (*Id.*, at p. 646.)

The Beacon Project homeowners here have suffered serious and appreciable harm as a result of the alleged negligence of Respondents. Appellant's complaint alleges a wide variety of physical and structural damage to the Project caused by Respondents' negligence, as the Court of Appeal correctly pointed out. (Opinion, p. 12; see JA 293-305.) The "solar heat gain" condition, which is a central focus of Appellant's complaint, is of such severity that the units are uninhabitable, unhealthy, and unsafe during certain periods. (JA 291.) The heat has caused physical damage, including window cracking, failure and degradation of window seals. (JA 291-92.) The lack of ventilation has also caused health and safety hazards. Respondents are morally and legally at fault for the form of shoddy construction that is causing the problem here, specifically, a non air conditioned high rise residential building that absorbs solar heat because it has too much glass and concrete, and because it does not have anything like sufficient outside air ventilation to disperse the heat buildup and cool off the residences.

The discomfort, annoyance, and adverse health effects of life in the kind of prolonged and uncontrollable heat that exists inside the Beacon Project, where many units are generally 20 degrees or more above outside ambient temperatures, reach into the 90's or even exceed 100 degrees (JA 281), and do not cool off at night, remaining hot for days on end even when the outdoor temperature subsides, are a recognized form of appreciable, non-speculative, present injury. (Aas, supra, 24 Cal.4th at p. 646; see Kornoff v. Kingsburg Cotton Oil Co. (1955) 45 Cal.2d 265, 271-72 (damages for discomfort and annoyance associated with adverse living conditions are recoverable in tort, even if no actual physical injury has ensued); San Francisco

-

Appellant's complaint alleges that "solar heat gain" is a very serious problem with the Beacon Project that is causing a lack of habitability, safety and even health problems. To the extent that any additional details regarding the magnitude of the overheating problems at the Beacon Project were required to be, but were not, sufficiently alleged in Appellant's complaint, leave to amend to state them more completely should have been granted. The trial court did not suggest that amendment would be needed, nor did it grant leave to amend to permit a more detailed allegation of the "appreciable harm" suffered by the Beacon Project homeowners. If a complaint does not state a cause of action, but there is a reasonable possibility that the defect can be cured by amendment, leave to amend must be granted. (Quelimane v. Stewart Title Guaranty Co. (1998) 19 Cal.4th 26, 39 (citing Blank v. Kirwan (1985) 39 Cal. 3d 311, 318).)

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